
MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
MEETING 

 
10.00 AM MONDAY, 17TH DECEMBER, 2012 

 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members of the Rights of way Committee are 
reminded of their personal responsibility to declare 
any personal and prejudicial interest in respect of 
matters contained in this agenda in accordance 
with the provisions of the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct.  
 

 

3. Division Guidance (for information)   

 To receive  
 

(Pages 1 - 4) 

4. Determination of application to divert Pant 13   

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    

(Pages 5 - 12) 



 

5. Any Other Business   

 
 
 
  
COMPOSITION: Councillors C T Jones (Chair)  
  
 B Mansbridge and D Isaac 
 together with appropriate officers 
  
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203 

 
Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203 
 
 



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 5th December 2012 
Report Author Geraint Morgan  
Committee Date 17th December 2012 

 
 
 
To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 
Diversion Order s119 
 
TO MAKE AN ORDER 
 
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee or 
occupier 
OR 
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public. 
 
To be satisfied that the Order will not alter a point of termination at all if it is a cul 
de sac route (ending at a beauty spot for example) 
OR 
If the route terminates at a highway to be satisfied that the termination point is 
only being moved to another point on the same highway or to another highway 
connected to it and the point is substantially as convenient to the public. 
 
To have due regard to the needs of agriculture and forestry and the desirability of 
conserving flora, fauna and geological and physiographical features. 
 
TO CONFIRM THE ORDER IF UNOPPOSED OR SEEK CONFIRMATION 
FROM THE SECRETARY OF STATE  (AT A PUBLIC INQUIRY IF 
NECESSARY) IF THE ORDER IS OPPOSED 
 
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee or 
occupier 
OR 
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public. 
 
To be satisfied that the route will not be substantially less convenient to the 
public. 
 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect the diversion would 
have on public enjoyment of the path or way as a whole. 
 
That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on land served by the 
existing right of way (compensation can be taken into account). 
 
That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on the land over 
which the “new” section runs and any land held with it (compensation can be 
taken into account). 
 
Also having regard to any material provision of any Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan. 
 
That there is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory undertakers under 
in, upon, over, along or across the land crossed by the present definitive route 
unless the statutory undertakers have consented to the confirmation of the Order 
(consent not to be unreasonably withheld). 
 
GUIDANCE 
 
The point of termination being as substantially convenient is a matter of judgment 
subject to the test of reasonableness. Convenience would have its natural and 
ordinary meaning and refer to such matters as whether the new point of 
termination facilitated the access of the highway network and accommodated 
users’ normal use of the network. 
 
That the diverted path is not substantially less convenient would mean 
convenience again being considered. The wording in the Statute allows the 
diversion to be slightly less convenient but it must not be substantially less so. 
Length of the diversion, difficulty of walking it, effect on users who may approach 
the diversion from different directions are factors to be considered 
 
The effect on public enjoyment of the whole route has to be considered.  
It would be possible that a proposed diversion may be as convenient but made 
the route less enjoyable (perhaps it was less scenic). Alternatively the diversion 
may give the route greater public enjoyment but be substantially less convenient 
(being less accessible or longer than the existing path). 
 
It may be that the grounds to make an Order are satisfied but the Committee may 
be unhappy that the route can satisfy the confirmation test. It is suggested that in 
such circumstances the Order should be made but the Committee should 
consider deferring the decision on whether to confirm it (if there are no 
objections) or (if there are objections) whether to instruct officers not to even 
send the Order to the Secretary of State for confirmation or to instruct to submit 
the Order to the Secretary of State and promote the confirmation of same. The 

Page 2



Council has a discretion whether to submit this type of Order to the Secretary of 
State. It is not obliged to just because it has made the Order.    
 
Under amended provisions, the “new” section of route will “appear” on 
confirmation of the Order (or a set number of days thereafter) but the “old” route 
will remain until the new route is certified as fit for use. It would appear that the 
public could quickly have the use of a new section which is fit for use as soon as 
confirmed but if the new route is unfit for use for a long time, the old line of the 
Right of Way is still there for the public to use. 
 
It would appear that if a definitive path is not used due to some temporary 
obstruction e.g. crops, overgrowth, broken stiles, the Order should be considered 
as if the path was open and in useable condition. 
 
It would appear that a way created by a Diversion Order may follow an existing 
right of way for some but not most or all of its length. 
 
The reference to having regard to needs of agriculture includes the breeding or 
keeping of horses. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 4th December 2012 
Report Author Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 17th December 2012 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

S.119 Highways Act 1980, Application for 
the Diversion of a section of Pant 13 
(bridleway) 
 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 
 
To obtain Committee approval of an application from Mr P Brogden to divert a 
section of Pant 13 (bridleway). 
 
 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Mr P Brogden, the applicant and lessee of the land over which the 
 diversion is requested has applied to the Council to divert a section of
 Pant 13 (bridleway) under Section 119 Highways Act 1980 in 
 order to accommodate a cattle grid for stock control purposes. 
 
1.2 Section 119 Highways Act 1980 gives the Authority power to 
 approve an application for changes to the route of a path by 
 concurrent creation and extinguishment, stating in s1:- 
 

“Where it appears to a Council as respects a footpath or bridleway in 
their area that, in the interests of the owner, lessee or occupier of land 
crossed by the path or way or of the public, it is expedient that the line 
of the path or way or part of that line, should be diverted (whether onto 
the land of the same or of another owner, lessee or occupier), the 
Council may, subject to subsection (2) below, by order made by them 
and submitted to and confirmed by the Secretary of State, or confirmed 
as an unopposed order, -  

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



(a) create ... any such new footpath or bridleway as appears to the 
Council requisite for effecting the diversion, and 

  
(b) extinguish ... in accordance with the provisions of subsection (3) 

below, the public right of way over so much of the path or way as 
appears to the Council requisite as aforesaid. 

 
An order under this section is referred to in the Act as a public path 
diversion order.” 
 
Subsections 2 – 9 of s119 Highways Act 1980 also require:- 
 

• the Authority must be satisfied that the alternative path will not 
be substantially less convenient to the public and that it is 
expedient for the order to be confirmed having regard to its 
effects on the public enjoyment of the paths as a whole, on land 
served by the existing path and on land affected by the 
proposed path. 

 
• the Authority must ensure that if the termination point is not on a 

highway that the new termination point “be substantially as 
convenient to the public.” 

 
• the Authority must ensure that all works required to be done to 

provide necessary facilities for the convenient exercise of any 
such new public right of way as is mentioned are to be carried 
out before the date of order. 

 
• that the public path diversion order may be unconditional or 

subject to such limitations or conditions as may be specified by 
the order. 

 
• before determination, on the representations of an owner, 

lessee or occupier of land crossed by the path or way, the 
Council may require him to enter into an agreement with them to 
defray, or to make such contribution as may be specified in the 
agreement towards: 

 
1. Any compensation which may become payable 
2. Any expenses which may be incurred in bringing the new site 

of the path or way into fit condition for use for the public. 
 
Any material provisions in the Rights of Way Improvement Plan must 
also be considered: 
 

• that the order be in the prescribed form 
 

• that schedule 6 of the Act have effect in the making of the order 
 

Page 6



• that other sections of the Act be applied to the making of a 
public path diversion order. 

 
 Where relevant these issues are addressed in Section 2. 
 
1.3 The legal background to this Report is at Agenda Item 3. 

2.0 THE ROUTE 
 
2.1 The existing bridleway commences at Point A on the plan, Pant 13,  its 
 junction with the maintainable highway at Pengarnddu, grid reference 
 SO07350878. It proceeds in a north-westerly direction to point B on 
 the plan, grid reference SO07410908. It then continues in a general 
 northerly direction to reach a field gate at grid reference 
 SO07460977. It then continues in a general northerly direction, 
 then in a general north-westerly direction and then in a general 
 northerly direction to terminate at Point C on the plan, the County 
 Borough Boundary, where the route joins a legal bridleway, Brecknock 
 18 at grid reference SO06541110. 
 
2.2 The proposed bridleway follows exactly the same route except for a 
 diversion around a cattle grid at Point B, grid reference 
 SO07410908. The diversion will run to the east of the cattle grid and 
 will pass through a bridlegate. 
 
2.3 The diversion is no less convenient to the public. 
 
2.4 No extra work is required to bring the proposed section into a fit 
 condition for use as the cattle grid and adjacent bridlegate have 
 already been installed. 
 
2.5 The lessee has given his written agreement to pay any 
 compensation that may become payable as a result of a diversion.  
 
2.6 The proposal conforms to the aims and objectives within the Merthyr 
 Tydfil County Borough Council’s Rights of Way Improvement Plan. 
 
3.0  OBJECTION RECEIVED 
 
3.1 A letter of objection was received from Country Land and Business 
 Association on behalf of Ms M Clayton stating that she was against the 
 application as she wishes to retain the free and uninterrupted 
 access and use of the common, and that this proposal will 
 significantly interfere with her day to day management of her 
 stock on the common, of which she has enjoyed for many years and 
 is freely entitled to do so. Although the proposed diversion will 
 require Ms Clayton to use the bridlegate the authority does not 
 consider that the diversion is substantially less convenient.  
 

Page 7



 
 
4.0 LETTER OF SUPPORT 
 
4.1 A letter of support has been received from the Gelligaer & Merthyr 
 Commoners Association stating that they have no objection to the 
 proposed re-routing of the right of way. 
 
5.0 SUMMARY 
 
5.1 Taking all the above into account the authority is satisfied that the 
 path should be diverted and it is also satisfied that the diverted path 
 is not substantially less convenient to the public and it is expedient for 
 the order to be made having regard to its effect on the public 
 enjoyment as a whole, on the land served by the existing path and on 
 the land affected by the proposed path. 
   
6.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
6.1 There are no negative environmental implications. 
 

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.  
 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
8.1 a) Taking into consideration all the evidence which has been 

 provided, that a Public Path Diversion Order be made to divert 
 the bridleway. 

 
b) To approve the confirmation of the Public Path Diversion 
 Order made as a result of (a) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if 
 any objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 
 
c) If any objections or representations are made within the 
 prescribed period are not subsequently withdrawn then to 
 refer the relevant order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
 determination.  

 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 

Page 8



 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Pant 13 

 
2012 – ongoing  
 

 
Rights of Way 
Department Unit 5  
 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with Executive Board in respect of 

each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

C

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

06/11/2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:12,704
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

      PANT 13

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Division Guidance (for information)
	4 Determination of application to divert Pant 13
	Pant 13 - Plan


